
AGENDA
Joint Town / County Special Meeting 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Teleconference Only - No Physical Location

Special Meeting
March 15, 2022

TELECONFERENCE INFORMATION
This meeting will be held via teleconferencing with members of the Board and Council attending from separate
remote locations. As authorized by AB 361, dated September 16, 2021, a local agency may use teleconferencing
without complying with the teleconferencing requirements imposed by the Ralph M. Brown Act when a legislative
body of a local agency holds a meeting during a declared state of emergency and local officials have
recommended or imposed measures to promote social distancing or the body cannot meet safely in person and
the legislative body has made such findings. 

Members of the public may participate via the Zoom Webinar, including listening to the meeting and providing
public comment, by following the instructions below. If you are unable to join the Zoom Webinar of the Board
meeting, you may still view the live stream of the meeting by visiting 
http://monocounty.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?publish_id=23aa5af0-d170-4b06-baf0-fdb622acd66e

To join the meeting by computer: 
Visit https://monocounty.zoom.us/j/84260024855 
Or visit https://www.zoom.us/, click on "Join A Meeting" and enter the Zoom Webinar ID 842 6002 4855
To provide public comment, press the “Raise Hand” button on your screen. 

To join the meeting by telephone: 
Dial (669) 900-6833, then enter Zoom Webinar ID 842 6002 4855. 
To provide public comment, press *9 to raise your hand and *6 to mute/unmute. 

NOTE: In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to participate in this
meeting, please contact the Clerk of the Board at (760) 932-5530 or bos@mono.ca.gov. Notification 48 hours
prior to the meeting will enable the County to make reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility to this
meeting (See 42 USCS 12132, 28CFR 35.130).
Full agenda packets are available for the public to review in the Office of the Clerk of the Board (Annex I - 74
North School Street, Bridgeport, CA 93517) and online at http://monocounty.ca.gov/bos. Any writing distributed
less than 72 hours prior to the meeting will be available for public inspection in the Office of the Clerk of the Board
and online.

UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED BY TIME, ITEMS SCHEDULED FOR EITHER THE MORNING OR
AFTERNOON SESSIONS WILL BE HEARD ACCORDING TO AVAILABLE TIME AND PRESENCE OF
INTERESTED PERSONS. PUBLIC MAY COMMENT ON AGENDA ITEMS AT THE TIME THE ITEM IS
HEARD.



4:15 PM Call meeting to Order

Pledge of Allegiance

1. OPPORTUNITY FOR THE PUBLIC TO ADDRESS THE BOARD

Opportunity for the public to address the Board on items of public interest that are
within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board. (Speakers may be limited in
speaking time dependent upon the press of business and number of persons
wishing to address the Board.) Please refer to the Teleconference Information
section to determine how to make public comment for this meeting via Zoom.

2. AGENDA ITEMS

A. Overview of the Mono County and Town of Mammoth Lakes Liaison
Committee
15 minutes

(Robert C. Lawton, CAO; Dan Holler, Town Manager) - Overview of the Mono
County and Town of Mammoth Lakes Liaison Committee.

Recommended Action: Receive overview of the Mono County and Town of
Mammoth Lakes Liaison Committee

Fiscal Impact: None noted.
B. ORMAT Operations Related Plowing of Roads in the Shady Rest Park Area

30 minutes

(Robert C. Lawton, CAO; Dan Holler, Town Manager) - ORMAT has initiated road
plowing in the Shady Rest area to provide access to facilities and other uses. The
operations have impacted recreational activities in the area by limiting groomed
routes for snowmobiling and other activities. 

Recommended Action: Receive report. Provide any desired direction to staff.

Fiscal Impact: None noted.
C. County and Town Support for and Participation in Proposed Mono County

Office of Emergency Services
30 minutes

(Robert C. Lawton, CAO, Dan Holler, Town Manager) - County and Town Support
for and participation in proposed Mono County Office of Emergency Services.

Recommended Action: Receive and discuss staff report on establishment of a
County Office of Emergency Services. Provide staff direction as appropriate.

Fiscal Impact: None noted.



D. Update on Radio Communications System Upgrade
30 minutes

(Robert C. Lawton, CAO; Dan Holler, Town Manager) - Update on Countywide
Emergency Radio Communications System upgrade.

Recommended Action: Receive report. Provide any desired direction to staff.

Fiscal Impact: None noted.
E. Housing Programs Update

1.5 hours

(Robert C. Lawton, CAO; Dan Holler, Town Manager) - Housing Programs updates
from the Town of Mammoth Lakes and Mono County. 

Recommended Action: Receive report. Provide any desired direction to staff.

Fiscal Impact: None noted.

ADJOURN



OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

SPECIAL MEETING AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

MEETING DATE March 15, 2022 DEPARTMENT
ADDITIONAL
DEPARTMENTS
TIME REQUIRED 15 minutes PERSONS

APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

Robert C. Lawton, CAO; Dan Holler,
Town ManagerSUBJECT Overview of the Mono County and

Town of Mammoth Lakes Liaison
Committee

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

Overview of the Mono County and Town of Mammoth Lakes Liaison Committee.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Receive overview of the Mono County and Town of Mammoth Lakes Liaison Committee

FISCAL IMPACT:
None noted.

CONTACT NAME: 
PHONE/EMAIL:  /

SEND COPIES TO: 

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

No Attachments Available

History

Time Who Approval
3/11/2022 5:31 PM County Counsel Yes

javascript:history.go(0);


 3/11/2022 5:31 PM Finance Yes

 3/11/2022 5:34 PM County Administrative Office Yes

 



OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

SPECIAL MEETING AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

MEETING DATE March 15, 2022 DEPARTMENT
ADDITIONAL
DEPARTMENTS
TIME REQUIRED 30 minutes PERSONS

APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

Robert C. Lawton, CAO; Dan Holler,
Town ManagerSUBJECT ORMAT Operations Related Plowing

of Roads in the Shady Rest Park
Area

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

ORMAT has initiated road plowing in the Shady Rest area to provide access to facilities and other uses. The operations
have impacted recreational activities in the area by limiting groomed routes for snowmobiling and other activities. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Receive report. Provide any desired direction to staff.

FISCAL IMPACT:
None noted.

CONTACT NAME: 
PHONE/EMAIL:  /

SEND COPIES TO: 

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

 Staff Report

 ORMAT EIR Excerpt

 ORMAT Plowing Map

javascript:history.go(0);

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=27033&ItemID=15004

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=27034&ItemID=15004

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=27035&ItemID=15004


 History

 Time Who Approval
 3/11/2022 5:32 PM County Counsel Yes

 3/11/2022 5:31 PM Finance Yes

 3/11/2022 5:35 PM County Administrative Office Yes

 



Title: ORMAT Operations Related Plowing of Roads in the Shady Rest Park Area 
 
Summary:  
ORMAT has initiated road plowing in the Shady Rest area to provide access to facilities and 
other uses. The operations have impacted recreational activities in the area by limiting groomed 
routes for snowmobiling and other activities. The grooming of roadways also creates potential 
challenges by creating unknown hazards with groomed roadway segments. The activity raised 
questions regarding the NEPA documentation requiring coordination and planning such activities 
with local agencies. While limited notice was provided, there was no coordination outreach to 
ensure recreational activities would not be negatively impacted and for necessary measures to be 
in place to provide safe recreational activities.  
 
There are clear and specific mitigation measure published in the "Casa Diablo IV Geothermal 
Development Project Final Joint Environmental Impact Statement and Environmental Impact 
Report” to anticipate these types of construction activities from happening without adequate 
public notice and without an approved "Traffic/Access/Circulation” plan, especially in an active 
winter recreation area: 
  

"Mitigation Measure TRA-1: Prior to construction and/or decommissioning, 
ORNI 50, LLC shall develop a Coordinated Transportation Management Plan and 
work with Mono County to prepare and implement a transportation management 
plan for roadways adjacent to and directly affected by the planned CD-IV Project 
facilities, and to address the transportation impact of the overlapping construction 
projects within the vicinity of the CD-IV Project in the region. The transportation 
management plan shall include, but not be limited to, the following 
requirements…” 

 
There needs be a better system for informing and working with the local impacted agencies to 
limit impacts on recreational activities. This is the second time that plowing of access roads has 
impacted snowmobile and other trails in the Shady Rest Park area. 
 



2. Proposed Action and Alternatives 

Casa Diablo IV Geothermal Development Project 2-67 June 2013 
Final EIS/EIR 

LVFPD, and the MLFPD prior to construction. In consultation with the local agencies, the 
USFS will determine any additional BMPs that shall be implemented. The Fire Protection 
and Prevention Plan shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 

1. Requirement for the number and size of water trucks equipped with 50 feet of fast
response hose with fog nozzles that shall be maintained on-site during construction
for immediate response to fire incidents

2. Training of all construction workers on fire prevention methods, the proper use of
firefighting equipment and procedures to be followed in the event of a fire.

3. Maintenance of fire extinguishers and fire-fighting equipment at each construction
site sufficient to extinguish small fires.

4. Definition of appropriate defensible spaces that shall be maintained around
permanent structures for acceptable wildland fire protection

There would be no adverse secondary impacts of Mitigation Measures PHS-1 and PHS-2. 

Recreation 

Mitigation Measure REC-1: ORNI 50, LLC shall post informational materials about the 
CD-IV Project at, but not limited to: nearby recreation sites / campgrounds, access points, the 
Mammoth Lakes Trail System website, and the Mammoth Welcome Center. This material 
shall include construction schedules and safety information regarding trucks and other heavy 
equipment use on local roads and NFSRs, and identify route closures. Signage shall be 
designed to function during winter and non-winter conditions, and shall be consistent with 
USFS and Town of Mammoth signage requirements, as appropriate. In addition, construction 
vehicle speed shall be limited to 15 miles per hour; with temporary signage warning 
construction vehicles to reduce speeds in areas with blind corners, narrow roads, or hills.

Mitigation Measure REC-2: ORNI 50, LLC shall monitor all pipeline routes for evidence 
of OHV use and if such use is identified, further OHV use shall be prevented through posting 
of signs and the physical blocking of access, or other restriction measures. ORNI 50, LLC 
shall also monitor revegetation of pipeline alignments and replant vegetation if necessary.  

Mitigation Measure REC-3: ORNI 50, LLC shall provide information regarding pipeline 
crossing locations and road closures at, but not limited to: nearby recreation sites / 
campgrounds, access points, the Mammoth Lakes Trail System website, and the Mammoth 
Lakes Visitor Center. Signage shall be designed to function during winter and non-winter 
conditions, and shall be consistent with USFS and Town of Mammoth signage requirements, 
as appropriate. In addition, operational vehicle speed shall be limited to 15 miles per hour road 
and signage shall be installed, consistent with USFS and County requirements. ORNI 50, LLC 
shall also coordinate with the Town of Mammoth and the USFS to ensure that a Shady Rest 
OSV staging area and access to the staging area is plowed to provide winter access. In 
addition, banks formed by road plowing shall be shaped such that crossing grade changes are 
gradual in areas where cross country use is prevalent. 

In addition, implement Mitigation Measures VIS-1 though VIS-3. 

johnwentworth
Highlight



2. Proposed Action and Alternatives 
 

Casa Diablo IV Geothermal Development Project 2-68 June 2013 
Final EIS/EIR 

Socioeconomics and Environmental Justice 

None required. 

Traffic/Access/Circulation 

Mitigation Measure TRA-1: Prior to construction and/or decommissioning, ORNI 50, 
LLC shall develop a Coordinated Transportation Management Plan and work with Mono 
County to prepare and implement a transportation management plan for roadways adjacent 
to and directly affected by the planned CD-IV Project facilities, and to address the 
transportation impact of the overlapping construction projects within the vicinity of the 
CD-IV Project in the region. The transportation management plan shall include, but not be 
limited to, the following requirements: 

1. Coordination of individual traffic control plans for the Project and nearby projects. 

2. Coordination between the contractor and Mono County in developing circulation and 
detour plans that include safety features (e.g., signage and flaggers). The circulation 
and detour plans shall address: 

a. Full and partial roadways closures 
b. Circulation and detour plans to include the use of signage and flagging to guide 

vehicles through and/or around the construction zone, as well as any temporary 
traffic control devices 

c. Bicycle/Pedestrian detour plans, where applicable 
d. Parking along public roadways 
e. Haul routes for construction trucks and staging areas for instances when 

multiple trucks arrive at the work sites 

f. Repairing and restoring affected roadway rights-of way to their original 
condition or better after construction and decommissioning are completed, 
where applicable. 

3. Protocols for updating the transportation management plan to account for delays or 
changes in the schedules of individual projects. 

Utilities and Public Services 

None required. 

Visual/Aesthetics 

Mitigation Measure VIS-1: Landscape Plan. Prior to construction, ORNI 50, LLC shall 
prepare, submit for approval by the USFS, and implement a landscape plan that includes 
planting of native trees and shrub vegetation at select locations to further screen well site 
facilities and the geothermal pipeline from view from Sawmill Cutoff Road (NFSR 03S08), 
Sawmill Road (03S25), Shady Rest Park, U.S. Highway 395, SR 203, and Knolls Loop. 
The landscape plan shall be coordinated with the revegetation plan (refer to Mitigation 
Measure VEG-1) including a monitoring and reporting plan. Permanent fencing shall be 
precluded to reduce potential barriers to wildlife. To minimize adverse visual effects from 

johnwentworth
Highlight



Non-Motorized Groomed Trails
Groomed Under Permit

Motorized OSV Trails
Groomed by USFS

1,000 2,0005000 Feet

Mammoth Hospital 

Section open when 
conditions permit

New Sh
ady Lo

op 1.8 Mi

New   S
ha

d
y

Loop 1.8 Mi

Pine Cone Cuto
ff 0

.5 M
i

O ld Shady Loop 1.1 Mi

Si
e

rr
a

 P
a

rk
 R

d

O
ld

 M
a

m
m

o
th

 R
d

Main Street   (Highway 203)

To Highway 395

Sa
w

m
ill

 C
ut

of
f R

d

Shady Rest Park

Welcome Center
& Ranger Station

 Forest Trail

Access to the
Motorized OSV 

Trail Network
is available
via Shady
Rest Park

MAMMOTH LAKES TRAIL SYSTEM

• Pick up and dispose of any dog waste on and off trails and at trailheads.
• Keep your dog leashed at all times.

• All users yield to grooming machines. 

• FAT BIKES: Yield to all other users. Skiers don’t have brakes but you do.
Purpose built fat bikes only - 3.8” wide tires or wider. Recommended PSI 6-10.
Leave room for others to pass (don’t ride side-by-side blocking the trail).
Do not ride in soft conditions. If you leave a rut deeper than 2 inches, it’s too soft.

• Do not ride or walk in cross country ski tracks.

• Respect other trail users. Be courteous and yield right of way according to etiquette code. 
PLEASE ENJOY THIS FREE MULTI-USE TRAIL SYSTEM RESPONSIBLY:

TRAIL ETIQUETTE & SAFETY

NON-MOTORIZED/MULTI-USE
SHADY REST WINTER TRAILS

2021/2022

TRAIL COURTESY

YIELD TO

³

#1

#2

#3

#4

mltpaoperations
Pencil

mltpaoperations
Pencil

mltpaoperations
Pencil



#1: New Shady Rest Loop Trail was blocked with Snow and the road cleared where MLTS 
grooms. The lead groomer ran a new track through the trees on 2/14/22 (Green Line on 
Map) to connect the loop. 

Trail
(New Shady Rest Loop)

Trail
(New Shady Rest Loop)

New Cut trail a/o 2/14/22

mltpaoperations
Pencil

mltpaoperations
Pencil



#2: A road was cut from the parking area through sawmill cuttoff trail and along the road. The 
lead groomer ran a new track through the trees (Green Line on Map) to connect the loop. No 
signs on the trail. Signs placed in the parking area.  

Connector trail leading 
from old shady to A 
trails (USFS Groomer 
would need to get 
through here)

New Cut trail a/o 2/14/22

Trail 
(New Shady Rest Loop)

mltpaoperations
Pencil

mltpaoperations
Pencil

mltpaoperations
Pencil



#3 The trail leading to the Sawmill Cutoff Road to connect old and new shady loops has been 
cleared and not passable with the groomer. 
.  



#4 A Trail is still passable and there were signs up. Minimal impact. 





OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

SPECIAL MEETING AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

MEETING DATE March 15, 2022 DEPARTMENT
ADDITIONAL
DEPARTMENTS
TIME REQUIRED 30 minutes PERSONS

APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

Robert C. Lawton, CAO, Dan Holler,
Town ManagerSUBJECT County and Town Support for and

Participation in Proposed Mono
County Office of Emergency Services

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

County and Town Support for and participation in proposed Mono County Office of Emergency Services.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Receive and discuss staff report on establishment of a County Office of Emergency Services. Provide staff direction as
appropriate.

FISCAL IMPACT:
None noted.

CONTACT NAME: 
PHONE/EMAIL:  /

SEND COPIES TO: 

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

 Staff Report

 Background Memo

History

javascript:history.go(0);

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=27030&ItemID=14995

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=27031&ItemID=14995


 Time Who Approval

 3/11/2022 5:35 PM County Counsel Yes

 3/11/2022 5:31 PM Finance Yes

 3/11/2022 5:39 PM County Administrative Office Yes

 



Agenda Action Sheet 
 

Title: County and Town Support for and Participation in Proposed Mono County Office of 
Emergency Services  
 
Recommended Motion: Provide staff direction on the support for the modifications to the 
County Office of Emergency Services (OES) including staffing and funding alternatives. 
 
Summary:  
Attached is the staff report and information presented by the County Administrative Officer, 
Robert Lawton (CAO), on proposed modifications to the County’s Office of Emergency Services 
(OES) to the Mono County Board of Supervisors on November 2, 2021. The report and 
recommendations were well received. and the CAO was authorized to proceed. The County 
report was presented to the Town Council on December 1, 2021.  The structure and duties 
outlined in the report for the OES was supported by Town to enhance emergency response 
capabilities, training, and planning throughout Mono County, including the Town. The 
coordination of services with the Town, the Mammoth Lakes Fire Protection District, other Fire 
Districts, and with other public agencies and private enterprises will improve emergency 
response capabilities. Having dedicated staff to lead ongoing planning, and training exercises, 
and document preparation will assist all agencies.  
 
The County Staff report provides detailed information on the OES being modified to report 
through the CAO’s Office, staffing structure, and proposed budget. The County has funding to 
implement these changes this year (FY21-22). However, ongoing funding is under review and 
our initial staff discussion included the possibility of the Town providing some funding for the 
OES beginning in FY2022-23. This provides a stronger link between the Town and County in 
emergency preparedness and response. It is anticipated that a County Office would be expected 
to coordinate across the agencies noted above.  
 
The Town and County recognize the need for enhanced emergency preparedness (planning, 
training, conducting exercises, documentation, operational staff preparedness, etc.) as we have 
been called on to respond to a growing list of emergencies over the past few years (fire, 
pandemic, severe weather, etc.). The need to train staff to stand up and run an emergency 
operations center is part of the core services provided to manage emergencies. And as currently 
demonstrated this can be for an extended time period as highlighted in the COVID-19 pandemic. 
County and Town staff are supportive of the program in the attached County report as we 
recognize the value it will bring to the Town, County, and region.  
 
The Board of Supervisors and Town Council are asked to discuss the role of the County Office 
of Emergency Services including the staffing and funding options. Information on how current 
emergency preparedness funding is currently used and status of future funding is requested.  
 









































OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

SPECIAL MEETING AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

MEETING DATE March 15, 2022 DEPARTMENT
ADDITIONAL
DEPARTMENTS
TIME REQUIRED 30 minutes PERSONS

APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

Robert C. Lawton, CAO; Dan Holler,
Town ManagerSUBJECT Update on Radio Communications

System Upgrade

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

Update on Countywide Emergency Radio Communications System upgrade.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Receive report. Provide any desired direction to staff.

FISCAL IMPACT:
None noted.

CONTACT NAME: 
PHONE/EMAIL:  /

SEND COPIES TO: 

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

 Update on Radio Communications System Upgrade

 California Radio Interoperable System

 Land Mobile Radio System Alternatives Analysis and Recommendations Report

History

javascript:history.go(0);

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=27005&ItemID=14997

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=27006&ItemID=14997

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=27007&ItemID=14997


 Time Who Approval

 3/11/2022 5:30 PM County Counsel Yes

 3/11/2022 5:31 PM Finance Yes

 3/11/2022 5:34 PM County Administrative Office Yes

 



1 

 

Title: Update on Radio Communications System Upgrade 
 
Recommendation:  Provide staff direction as appropriate  
 
Background  
Over the past few years, the County, Town, Mammoth Lakes Fire Protection District and other 
partners have been looking at options to improve radio coverage in Mono County. This includes 
conducting initial engineering studies looing at tower sites, coverage maps and new radios, Staff 
has reviewed the use of cell technology systems such as AT&T FirstNet. Several short-term 
improvements options have been analyzed. All the options come with added costs for 
improvements, new radios, and ongoing maintenance. In the interim, County staff continues to 
maintain and make minor improvements to the existing system. Staff also considered the option 
of creating a regional 911/Dispatch Center join with the City of Bishop and Inyo County. 
However, due to costs, timing, and operational items this joint facility is no longer being 
pursued.  
 
The Board of Supervisors and Town Council has received presentations in the past on 
alternatives to rebuild the Land Mobile Radio System within Mono County. The Executive 
Summary provided by Federal Engineering and the power point presentation from September 
2019 is provided as background information.  
 
The Town, Mammoth Lakes Fire District and County have also reviewed the proposed 
California Radio Interoperable System (CRIS) being implemented at the State level through Cal 
OES.  Attached is FAQ overview of the CRIS system. The focus of the system is to improve 
radio coverage and interoperability along state highway corridors and into larger population 
centers. The program has received substantial funding and the build out is proceeding. They are 
looking to build out their system through Mono County primarily along the Highway 395 
corridor. This system will provide coverage through a significant portion of Mono County.  
 
The Town and Mammoth Lakes Fire District retained Elk Mountain Technology to analyze 
options to enhance radio communications within the Town/District service area. The action was 
taken as the company was also retained by Mammoth Mountain Ski Area (MMSA) to review 
options to upgrade their communications system. The company also has extensive experience 
working with other statewide systems. Company was also familiar with Mono County IT staff 
early work on MMSA planning and outreach on the review of the Town/Fire District planning 
area. We are reviewing the CRIS alternative and additional data and process information is being 
gathered. 
 
The CRIS system appears to be a viable alternative. We can leverage the state system 
improvements but will need to provide local enhancements to gain full coverage and redundancy. 
It does address the guiding principles previously set forth. The structure of the system allows for 
current and future technology to be incorporated. The maintenance if provided by the State. It 
will require radio upgrades, which allows for P25 encrypted capabilities. The system is set up for 
agencies to be a “subscriber” requiring annul fees based on the number of users (radios). A 
portion of the subscription fees can be offset based on the amount of local investment in the 
system. Agencies will need to fund some tower improvements and/or new sites and equipment. 



2 

 

Purchase new radios and pay ongoing subscription fees. The overall up-front costs appear to be 
less than other proposals. Local improvements may also be phased in but may require some 
‘patch’ systems to work. Maintenance cost on the communication sites will be less as sites 
(majority) are maintained by the State. Linking in the system to the 911/Dispatch center will also 
require local improvements.  
 
The state is funding is secured. The local funding to extend the coverage of the system for the 
Town and Fire District is mostly funded. The Town has committed $1 million of a programmed 
$1.5 million set aside for this project. The final amount necessary and cost of improvement are 
still under review.  



























































OFFICE OF THE CLERK
OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

SPECIAL MEETING AGENDA REQUEST
 Print

MEETING DATE March 15, 2022 DEPARTMENT
ADDITIONAL
DEPARTMENTS
TIME REQUIRED 1.5 hours PERSONS

APPEARING
BEFORE THE
BOARD

Robert C. Lawton, CAO; Dan Holler,
Town ManagerSUBJECT Housing Programs Update

AGENDA DESCRIPTION:
(A brief general description of what the Board will hear, discuss, consider, or act upon)

Housing Programs updates from the Town of Mammoth Lakes and Mono County. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Receive report. Provide any desired direction to staff.

FISCAL IMPACT:
None noted.

CONTACT NAME: 
PHONE/EMAIL:  /

SEND COPIES TO: 

MINUTE ORDER REQUESTED:
 YES  NO

ATTACHMENTS:
Click to download

 Community Housing Action Plan Progress Report

 Mono County Housing Programs Summary

History

Time Who Approval

javascript:history.go(0);

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=26989&ItemID=14996

                                                AttachmentViewer.ashx?AttachmentID=27032&ItemID=14996


 3/11/2022 5:32 PM County Counsel Yes

 3/11/2022 5:31 PM Finance Yes

 3/11/2022 5:34 PM County Administrative Office Yes

 



 1 
 

 

 

COMMUNITY AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

P.O. Box 1609, Mammoth Lakes, CA 93546 

Phone: (760) 965-3630  Fax: (760) 934-7493 

www.townofmammothlakes.ca.gov 

 

DATE: MARCH 15, 2022  

RE: COMMUNITY HOUSING ACTION PLAN PROGRESS REPORT 

FROM: NOLAN BOBROFF, SENIOR PLANNER / HOUSING COORDINATOR 
______________________________________________________________________ 

The Town of Mammoth Lakes Community Housing Action Plan (CHAP) was accepted by the 
Town Council in December 2017 and is intended to provide a set of housing strategies that 
address a range of community housing needs both in the near term and over the long haul. The 
CHAP was developed through a collaborative process between Town staff, the community, and 
a 24-member Housing Working Group, and the final report was supported with funding from 
Mammoth Mountain Ski Area. The strategies identified in the CHAP are intended to meet the 
following objectives: 

• Provide 200 to 300 community housing units within 5 years, through a combination of 
new development, redevelopment, housing programs, and policies; 

• Target the full range of community housing needs currently not being met by the market, 
including rentals for households earning less than 80% AMI (about $55,000/year) and 
ownership housing for households earning up to 200% AMI (about $140,000/year); 

• Produce community housing at a rate faster than job growth in the near term to help 
address the current housing shortage, unfilled jobs, and provide opportunities for in-
commuters who want to move to town; and  

• Retain a strong base of residents and employees living in town. 

In addition to the CHAP, an updated Housing Needs Assessment (HNA) was completed in 2017 
which showed that about 600 new housing units were needed over the ensuing five-year period 
to address the current housing shortfall for residents and the workforce and to keep up with job 
growth over the five-year period. Of those 600 housing units, the HNA specified that about 340 
of those units should be priced below-market to meet the full range of the community housing 
needs (i.e., home ownership units priced below $400,000 and rentals priced below 
$1,400/month for the average 2.5-person household). The following is a summary of CHAP 
strategies and status of work completed, in process, or not yet initiated. Based on work done 
and in process, staff is not recommending updating the CHAP, but to continue to review work 
programs that are informed by the CHAP and other actions being undertaken to address 
housing needs. The broad goals noted above continue to set a viable target for housing 
development over the next few years.  

The Town continues to allocate funds to a range of programs under the Housing Now! Initiative. 
Programs are discussed in more detail below, but include a multi-action approach including 
Phase 1 (81 units) and 2 (147 units) of the Parcel, the Bridge Program (i.e., the purchase of 
market units for re-sale to middle income households), small-project development (i.e., 60 
Joaquin 4-unit project), and the provision of funding for various housing projects (i.e., MLH’s 11-
unit Access Apartments project and MLH’s 15-unit Homekey project). Additional elements of the 
Housing Now! Initiative includes the continued support for the Chamber of Commerce’s tenant 
matching program for vetted employees with available housing, the incentivization of ADUs, 
zoning code updates to remove barriers to development (i.e., Town density bonus program), 
and approval of private sector projects with potential partnerships. 

https://ca-mammothlakes2.civicplus.com/DocumentCenter/View/8170/Housing-Action-Plan-Live-Work-Thrive?bidId=


3 
 

The following table summarizes the progress made on the near-term and mid-term housing strategies identified in the CHAP. 

Foundational Structure  

Plan Governance • Council Acceptance: Completed in December 2018. 

• Capacity: The Town hired a Housing Coordinator in October 2019. 

• Contract Between Town and MLH: The Town and Mammoth 

Lakes Housing (MLH) entered an initial 3-year contract for the 

period of July 2018 – June 2021. A new 1-year contract for the 

period of July 2021 – June 2022 was recently approved.  

• MLH Board Representation: 3 new board members were added in 

2018/19 

• Updates and Adaptation: Ongoing process to respond to needs 

and opportunities 

Capacity • MLH: Expanded capacity by creating a Latino Advocacy position 

and by securing a CCRH grant to host an intern in FY(s) 2020/21 

and 2021/22. 

• Chamber of Commerce: Created a Housing Coordinator position. 

Program Management • Deed Restrictions and Housing Guidelines:  

o Deed restrictions are updated as opportunities arise (typically 

when a property is sold). 

o An employee-only deed restriction was included as an option 

in the Town Density Bonus program.  

o Guidelines are typically amended at program adoption. 

Additional research on length of employment standards 

needs to be done. 

• Unit Management / Housekeeping: 

o TOML to establish status of TOML monitored deed-restricted 

units by mid-2022. The Town sent out monitoring letters in 

December 2021 and responses have been trickling in.  

• Housing Inventory GIS Database (Previously presented to 

Council): Database has the following data inputted: 

o Existing deed restricted unit locations (MLH and TOML) 1 

                                                           
1
 Additional data specific to each deed restriction needs to be added to the database (e.g., AMI level, term, compliance status) 



4 
 

o TOT certificate locations 2 

o Apartment unit locations 

o Parcel data 

o Map to be updated on an ongoing basis with additional GIS 

data 

Financing 

Town allocated funds for the Housing Now! Initiative  

• $1.5M Access Apartments project 

• $1.2M Parcel Phase 1 

• $1.0M Homekey Grant Match 

• $3.2M 60 Joaquin Project 

• $0.5M Private/Public Partnership Project(s) 

• $1.4M Missing-Middle Bridge Program 

• $0.7M Future Land Purchase 

• $1.0M Parcel Phase 2 

• Expanded Federal/State Grant/Loan Outreach: Ongoing 

• TOT/Town Revenue Dedication to Housing Now! Initiative: Over 

$10.5M allocated in FY21/22 and FY22/23 

• Town Created Housing Now! Program 

• Shared Community Resources: TBD 

• Private Donations/Grants Collection: TBD (MLH collecting funds 

for Access Apartments) 

• Development and License Fees: DIF and Housing Fee Nexus Study 

update to be completed in 2022 

Public Outreach/Education • Report on Successes: Information on various actions and 

programs is shared publicly as actions are programmed and 

implemented. 

Near-Term Work Program Items (Completed by end of 2022) 

• Input additional data on existing deed restrictions and TOT certificates into GIS database. 

• Provide summary of the status of TOML monitored deed-restricted units. 

• Establish a schedule for Town Council status updates on the CHAP. (Updates provided) 

• Create an annual community survey process to provide information on community housing needs (Survey being developed) 

 

Housing Strategy Strategy Type Status 

Near-Term Strategies (Timing Goal Identified in CHAP: In place by the end of 2020 – timelines extended due to COVID and Other Work) 

Land Acquisition: Acquire Shady Rest (referred to hereinafter as 

‘The Parcel’) 
Public/Private Partnership Completed in 2018 

• The Town purchased the Parcel in 2018 and subsequently began extensive public outreach to gain input from the community on the 

                                                           
2
 The TOT Certificate locations database identifies all properties that have been issued a TOT Certificate since the inception of the TOT certificate program beginning 

when the Town incorporated in 1984 and is not indicative of how frequently a unit is rented. Determining how often a unit is rented would require additional data from 

the TOT unit operators and there is currently no plan in place to being collecting that data. 



5 
 

future affordable housing project. Master Plan completed and implemented with Phase 1 to open in 2023. 
 
Dedicated Local Tax Funding Postponed – COVID-19 

• A TOT tax increase dedicated to housing was being considered for the 2020 General Election ballot, but due to the COVID-19 pandemic, 

the ballot measure was postponed.  

• Current Council direction is to not pursue a tax increase and instead continue to commit excess TOT revenue to housing. Ongoing TOT 

revenue committed to housing is in excess of what a dedicated 1% TOT rate would generate.  

Homebuyer Assistance Programs In-Place; Ongoing 

• The Town and MLH implemented the Bridge Program under the overall “Housing Now!” Action Plan to increase the number of 

affordable units within the Town through the acquisition of market-rate units that are then resold at a reduced affordable price (focus 

is on missing-middle income households). Since Nov 2021, five units have been acquired. Of those, one unit is in escrow and three of 

the units have potential buyers that are working on getting financing. The Town closed escrow on the fifth unit recently.  

• Funding for a moderate-income homebuyer assistance program was allocated by the Town Council in March 2019; however, the 

funding was reallocated to the Bridge Program, which is providing housing for households with incomes up to 120% of AMI.  

Accessory Dwellings (Promote) Incentives In-Place; Ongoing 

• The Town ADU regulations were amended in 2019 in response to State law amendments and were subsequently amended in 2021 

clarify the ADU regulations and improve the usability for the public and staff of the regulations 

• The Town is working with Mono County to implement prescriptive designs for Accessory Dwelling Units. Program to be in place 2022. 

• ADU incentives program to be developed (e.g., financial incentives in exchange for deed-restriction, fee waivers/reductions, pre-

approved ADU plans, development standard adjustments) 

STR to LTR Incentive: Roommate Match Short-Term Rental Programs In-Place; Ongoing 

• Chamber of Commerce program established in 2019 to match renters with rental owners / homeowners  

• 56 successful matches have occurred as of December 2020; Program slowed pending the hiring of a new employee. The Chamber 

continues to maintain a list of qualified workers looking for housing, but there is a very limited supply of housing options in which to 

place workers. 

Federal and State Grants/Loans Funding In-Place; Ongoing 

• The Town continues to review notices of funding availability (NOFAs) for new grants and submit applications for applicable grants. 

Submittal of a HOME grant application for up to $1M was approved by Council on March 2, 2022 for homebuyer assistance. 

• Since acceptance of the CHAP, the Town has been awarded the following housing related grants: 2017 CDBG award  for homebuyer 

assistance and housing rehabilitation ($700K); SB-2 Planning Grant for conceptual land use planning at the Parcel ($160K); LEAP 

Planning Grant for Master Plan work related to the Parcel ($65K); IIG Grant for infrastructure needs at the Parcel ($20.6M); and CARES 

Act Funds to respond to the COVID-19 emergency ($317K) and the Town has applied for a 2020 CDBG Grant for MLH’s 238 Sierra 

Manor Road project ($3.2M), but no award notification has been received. The Town was not successful on our 2021 CDBG Grant for 

homebuyer assistance ($500K). Total of $25.5M awarded, or applied for, since 2017. Recently awarded $38.6M for Phase 1 of the 



6 
 

parcel, construction.  

Land Acquisition: MMSA Lodestar (Other) Public/Private Partnership Discussions Ongoing 

• The Town and MMSA have had preliminary discussions regarding the property located at 1620 Lodestar Drive (“Lodestar Site”) with the 

existing abandoned foundation. MMSA still reviewing options for development of the site and the development of a 1-acre site on 

Arrowhead Drive. Town is considering other sites to purchase. 

Zoning for Affordability Incentives In-Place; Ongoing 

• Town staff continues to review the zoning code and identify potential amendments that will increase and diversify the supply of 

housing choices. 

• The Town adopted an update to the Town Density Bonus Program in 2020 to provide greater flexibility in usage of the program and to 

encourage the provision of deed-restricted units by offering additional density and other development standard incentives. To date, 

three projects have been entitled using the Town density bonus program.3 Joaquin project will also use the program.  

STR to LTR Incentive: Amnesty Program Short-Term Rental Programs Not Yet Started 

• Amnesty program is intended to incentivize conversion of illegal short-term rentals to long-term rental use. 

• Additional research needs to be done on the effectiveness of this strategy. 

Land Acquisition: Shady Rest Design (Parcel) Public/Private Partnership In-Place; Ongoing 

• The Parcel conceptual land use plan was accepted by the Town Council in December 2019 and the Final Master Plan for the Parcel was 

adopted by the Town Council in January 2021. 

• Phase 1 of the Parcel was approved in February 2021 for 80 low-income apartment units plus one manager’s unit. 

• Construction of Phase 1 began in fall 2021 and occupancy to occur in spring of 2023. Project is fully funded. 

• The Design Review permit for Phase 2 was submitted in early 2022 for 147 units. 

• The design of future phases of the Parcel are being discussed and planned for by Town staff and the Parcel developer 

Housing Mitigation Ordinance Development Requirements Ongoing 

• In 2019, the Town Council increased the Town’s Housing Fees within the parameters of the 2015 Housing Ordinance.  

• In August 2021, the Town Council directed staff to bring back an increase to the Town’s Housing Fees based on CPI, which was 

approved. 

• A comprehensive update to the Housing Fee Nexus Study began in 2021 and will be used to inform and establish future housing fee 

rates. Update to be completed in 2022. 

Inclusionary Zoning Development Requirements Not Yet Started 

• The Town previously had an Inclusionary Zoning policy, but it was superseded by the current Housing Mitigation Policy that allows 

developers to choose their mitigation from a variety of mitigation options. (Note – Approved Sierra Nevada Resort (Coldwater Specific 

Plan) Phased project will provide 8 units/rooms of on-site housing. Town negotiating the use of 4 rooms for summer 2022 part-time 

                                                           
3 Approved Town Density Bonus projects includes the Chaparral Townhomes project (6-unit PUD), a 6-unit project on Manzanita, and the Parcel (450 units).  



7 
 

staff. 

• Additional research needs to be done on the effectiveness of this strategy. 
  



8 
 

Near-Term Work Program Items (Completed or Construction Began by Mid-2022) 

GOAL of 102 Units 

• Increase the number of deed-restricted units with a goal of acquiring (6) existing market-rate units. Deed restrictions to range from 

120% AMI to Workforce Only (no income restriction). (CHAP Objective 2) (5) Units acquired as of March 2022. Town will continue to 

purchase units as appropriate units are identified. 

• Design and begin construction on a four-unit planned unit development (PUD) project located on town-owned property. Deed 

restrictions to range from 120% AMI to Workforce Only. (CHAP Objectives 1 & 2) RFP has been sent to two pre-qualified design-build 

entities; Proposals are due mid-March 

• Coordinate, as needed, with the Parcel developer (Pacific Companies) to ensure Phase 1 of the Parcel remains on schedule. 80 units 

deed-restricted to low-income and below AMI levels; (1) manager’s unit. (CHAP Objectives 1 & 2) 81 units under construction 

• Establish a public/private partnership with the goal of developing (6) deed-restricted units. (CHAP Objective 2) Ongoing discussions 

with developers with two 6-unit project entitlements approved.  

• Assist a minimum of (3) income-eligible homebuyers with down-payment assistance utilizing grant funds (1) Begin ReUse loan 

application in process. Grant application to be submitted for up to $1M for down-payment program. 

• Establish a formal ADU incentive policy including use of prescriptive designs. Set a goal of (10) ADU permits intended for long-term 

rental use. (3) ADU permits have been issued since January 2021; however, there is no requirement that they be used for long-term 

rental use. 

• If successful in the Homekey grant application, coordinate, as needed, with MLH to ensure the successful completion of the proposed 

hotel conversion project. (15) units deed-restricted to low-income. (CHAP Objectives 1 & 2) Expect to hear from the State mid-March 

on the application 

• MLH continues to fund raise and are awaiting notification on grant funds for 11-unit low-income Access Apartments project. 

 

Mid-Term Strategies (Timing Goal Identified in CHAP: In place between 2020 - 2025) 

Land Acquisition: USFS within Town Public/Private Partnership Discussions Ongoing 

• Establish a process and coordinate with the USFS on the conversion of vacant USFS land to land available for housing development. 

Preliminary discussions with the USFS have begun and will continue in 2022/2023 to determine a course of action to use administrative 

site in Mammoth Lakes for housing 

Land Acquisition: Shady Rest Entitlement/Finance Public/Private Partnership In-Place; Ongoing 

• Phase 1 of the Parcel was entitled in February 2021 and the Parcel developer and Town is waiting for final agreement for awarded 

funding of $38.6M in State funds for the project. Additional phases will require additional entitlements and funding sources. Phase 2 

plans were submitted for review. Town has committed $1M of an estimated $5.1M need for Phase 2 outside of federal/state funding. 
  



9 
 

Accessory Dwellings (Pre-Approved Units) Incentives  
Partnership with Mono 

County 

• Mono County is utilizing their allocation of Senate Bill 2 (SB-2) funds to develop pre-approved ADU plans, of which a minimum of one 

design will meet Town snow and seismic requirements. Mono County has indicated that the pre-approved plans will be shared with the 

Town once they are finalized, anticipated by mid 2022. 

 

Town Council direction will be needed to prioritize the following mid-term action strategies:  

Enhanced Infrastructure Financing District (EIFD) Funding Not Yet Started 

• Establishment of a financing program to allocate new property and/or sales tax in defined districts that will be generated by the future 

development of the land. The concept is to have partners to implement an EIFD district (or similar mechanism) using growth in 

property tax increment. 

Linkage License Fee for Short-Term Rentals Short-Term Rental Programs Not Yet Started 

• Establishment of a fee directly linked to the need for housing generated by short-term rentals. The fee would help mitigate two impact 

areas: (1) Reducing the supply of housing available to residents; and (2) creating demand for housing by creating jobs. Not currently 

being worked on. 

Public Land for Development – Tier 1 Sites Public/Private Partnership Not Yet Started 

• The CHAP identifies Tier 1 sites as the Town Park N’ Ride site and the Mammoth Lakes Fire District site on Dorrance. No formal design 

work has begun on either site. Neither site is currently being pursued for housing. Town has purchased a separate site for a four-unit 

housing project and are considering other sites to purchase. 

Employer-Assisted Housing: Property Management Support Public/Private Partnership Not Yet Started 

• Program to support employers that provide, or desire to provide, housing by providing management services of the rental units. 

Additional analysis needs to be done to determine the effectiveness and structure of such a program. 

Amnesty for Unpermitted Units Development Requirements Not Yet Started 

• Program to incentivize the conversion of illegally created units to legal units thereby increasing the stock of legal rental housing. 

Additional analysis needs to be done to determine the effectiveness of such a program. 

Loan Program for Long-Term Rental Landlords Programs Not Yet Started 

• Establishment of a program to provide low or no interest loans to landlords to complete health and safety repairs in exchange for an 

agreement to rent the unit long-term.  

Inspection/Licensing for Long-Term Rentals Development Requirements Not Yet Started 

• Establishment of a long-term rental inspection program to ensure basic health and safety standards are being adhered to in long-term 

rentals.  
  



10 
 

Short-Term Rental to Long-Term Rental Incentive: Property 

Management 
Short-Term Rental Programs Not Yet Started 

• Program to provide rent guarantees and property management in exchange for renting units long-term that were previously vacant or 

rented on a short-term basis. Various related programs implemented by other communities are being reviewed. 

Private Donations/Grants Funding Not Yet Started 

• Encouragement of tax-deductible contributions to MLH, a non-profit organization, to assist in purchasing and/or developing housing. 

Current fund raising focused on Access Apartments project. 

Fee Waivers/Substitutions Incentives Not Yet Started 

• Establishment of a policy to consider fee waivers for affordable housing projects. 

Fast Track Processing Incentives Not Yet Started 

• Prioritization of development applications that include affordable housing. 

Housing Rehabilitation Incentives Not Yet Started 

• Program to encourage repairs, updates, and energy efficiency improvements in existing homes. 

Preserve Mobile Home Park Affordability Programs Not Yet Started 

• Encourage the preservation of long-term mobile home affordability, quality, and stability for residents. 

Mid-Term Work Program Items (In-Place by Mid-2025) 

Goal of 97 – 177 Units 

• Establish a public/private partnership with the goal of developing (6) deed-restricted units. (CHAP Objective 2) 

• Coordinate, as needed, with the Parcel developer to ensure Phase 2 remain on schedule. (CHAP Objectives 1 & 2) Design review permit 

for Phase 2 submitted in February 2022 for 147 units.  

• Coordinate, as needed, with MLH to ensure the successful completion of their Access Apartments (238 Sierra Manor Road) project. 

(11) units deed-restricted to low-income. (CHAP Objectives 1 & 2) 

• Work with MLH on Homekey project if successful for State funding estimated to create 15 low-income deed restricted units. 

Long-Term Work Program Items (In-Place by Mid-2030) 

Goal of 269 Units 

• Phase 3 of the Parcel – 89 Units (CHAP Objectives 1 & 2) 

• Phase 4 of the Parcel – 85 Units (CHAP Objectives 1 & 2) 

• Phase 5 of the Parcel – 80 Units (CHAP Objectives 1 & 2) 

• Other Programs – 15 Units 

TOTAL Housing Unit Goal Through 2030: 468 – 558 Deed Restricted Units  

 



Attachment #1
Housing Policy Programs
December 7, 2021

Source Description Status Board Priority (2018) / Timeframe Policy Discussion 
Item

Housing Element 1.1 Update opportunity site database and identify sites within or 
adjacent to existing communities suitable for development 
targeted at addressing housing needs in the County.  

Completed as part of the 2019-2027 Housing Element. High

Housing Element 1.2 Adopt at least one regulatory change that improves housing 
production potential. 

Completed. Updates to Chapter 16, Accessory Dwelling Units 
reduce restrictions on ADUs. 

High

Housing Element 1.3 Reduce barriers to tiny home construction and new housing 
types. Create a definition for tiny homes consistent with 
California Building Code and evaluate land use designations 
and sites appropriate for tiny home development. 
Redesignate at least one parcel to be eligible for tiny home 
development under current standards.  

Completed. Tiny homes on a foundation are permittable under 
an appendix in the California Building Code, which Mono 
County has adopted. The California Building Code has not 
created a separate definition for tiny homes on a chassis. See 
"Short Range" section.

High

X

Housing Element 2.3 Reinstate the Housing Mitigation Ordinance. Completed. The Housing Mitigation Ordinance was reinstated 
effective February 2020.

Moderate

Housing Element 2.11 Allow manufactured homes and accessory dwelling units 
(ADUs) in the same manner and land use designations as 
stick-built single family homes, and allow accessory dwelling 
units (ADUs), regardless of zoning and development 
standards, in any zone with an existing single-family home, 
consistent with state law (Government Code §65852.3).

Completed. Updates to Chapter 16, Accessory Dwelling Units 
were approved through GPA 21-01 to be consistent with state 
law. Manufactured homes and ADUs are permittable in all land 
use designations as stick-built single-family homes. 

High

Housing Element 3.5 Identify incentives for property owners to convert short-
term rentals into long-term rentals, invite all short-term 
rental property owners to participate, and convert at least 
one unit.

Completed. Adopted incentives include an exemption from 
Housing Mitigation Ordinance (HMO) fees and, if relinquishing 
a Short-Term Rental Activity Permit, no longer applying for a 
renewal on an annual basis. One approved short-term rental 
has not renewed its annual permit, eliminating one short-term 
rental use. In addition, two single-family homes have elected to 
eliminate short-term rental eligibility in perpetuity to claim an 
exemption from HMO fees. While permit renewals are 
regulatory in nature and could be considered a “stick,” the 
second (HMO fee exemption) is clearly an incentive. The 
County has no regulatory means to ensure the units are being 
rented long-term; other occupancy options are for the units to 
house occasional/seasonal second homeowners or year-round 
primary owners, or remain vacant.    

Moderate

Housing Element 4.2 Disseminate and maintain fair housing information and 
education materials throughout the county and ensure 
public awareness of fair housing laws and processes. Refer 
persons with complaints of housing discrimination to 
appropriate online resources including information/links 
hosted on the Housing Authority website. Continue to make 
accommodations for persons with disabilities through the 
permitting process.

Completed. Information provided on website and appropriate 
accommodations are made.

Not identified in prioritization 
matrix (State requirement)

Completed Programs

1



Attachment #1
Housing Policy Programs
December 7, 2021

Housing Element 4.3 Monitor the need for permanent emergency shelters beyond 
the County’s community centers and make emergency 
shelters an outright permitted use in Public Facility (PF) land 
use designations, as consistent with state law.

Completed. Emergency shelters were made an outright 
permitted use in PF in conjunction with the adoption of the 
Housing Element in 2019. 

Not identified in prioritization 
matrix (State requirement)

Housing Element 4.4 Ensure the Multi-Jurisdictional Hazard Mitigation Plan 
remains up to date.

Completed. Next required update is 2024. Not identified in prioritization 
matrix (State requirement)

Housing Element 4.5 Provide at least one short-term housing unit for homeless 
persons and monitor the need to increase services for 
homeless persons, including short- term housing for victims 
of domestic violence.

Completed. The Birch Creek condo was sold to IMACA to create 
the first transitional housing unit located in Mono County. The 
Social Services and Behavioral Health departments continue to 
collaborate on programs to support homeless persons, victims 
of domestic violence, and other transitional housing needs. 

Not identified in prioritization 
matrix

Housing Element 4.6 Allow transitional and supportive housing as a residential use 
of property, subject only to those restrictions that apply to 
other residential dwellings of the same type in the same 
zone, consistent with state law (Government Code 
§65583(a)(4)(A)).

Completed. Adopted in conjunction with the Housing Element 
in 2019. 

Not identified in prioritization 
matrix

Housing Element 2.1 Pursue partnerships with other agencies in the County, such 
as the Town of Mammoth Lakes, federal, state, and local 
agencies to identify opportunities to increase housing stock.

Completed. The County sold the property at 71 Davison Road in 
Mammoth Lakes in October of 2019 to an affordable housing 
developer who purchased the property subject to deed 
restrictions for affordability requiring the creation of 5 units. 
The project was a joint effort with the Town and Mammoth 
Lakes Housing. The County maintains funding in the Revolving 
Loan Fund and First-Time Homebuyer Assistance Fund. The 
Birch Creek Condo was sold to IMACA for use as transitional 
housing. See "Ongoing" section.

High

Housing Element 3.1 Support programs that may improve housing stock quality. 
Continue outreach through the County website and 
information counters that provide information to community 
members about weatherization and energy efficiency 
strategies and funding/waivers. Pursue at least one 
rehabilitation grant. Update housing stock survey at least 
once per housing cycle.

Completed. Mono County currently has a Homebuyer 
Assistance program administered by Mammoth Lakes Housing 
funded by the State HOME program. See "Ongoing" section.

High

Source Description Status Board Priority (2018) / TimeframePolicy Discussion Item
Housing Element 1.4 Identify future opportunities for CEQA streamlining, 

including using exemptions when possible.   
In progress: CDD has hired a consultant to complete a 
Greenhouse Gas Emissions checklist and Vehicle Miles Travelled 
(VMT) model, which will help streamline CEQA for housing 
projects. 

High / Spring 2022

Short Range Programs (2021-2023)

2



Attachment #1
Housing Policy Programs
December 7, 2021

Housing Element 1.5 Identify sites within or adjacent to existing communities 
where infrastructure limits development potential. 
Participate in the preparation of at least two grant 
applications by invitation of the infrastructure entities and 
assist those entities with understanding environmental 
regulations.

In progress: CDD has been awarded $250k through the CDBG 
grant to create a needs assessment for special districts in order 
to identify areas within or adjacent to existing communities 
where development is limited by infrastructure. CDD is 
currently in the process of contracting with a consultant.

Moderate / Spring 2024

Housing Element 2.2 Review current use and long-term needs of County-owned 
parcels and evaluate for disposition or development for 
potential housing sites.

In progress: Inventory of County-owned parcels is in progress. 
Report was presented to the Board on 9/7/21. CAO’s office is 
considering next steps based on Board input.

Moderate / TBD

Housing Element 2.12 Allow single room occupancy dwellings in all land use 
designations that allow for hotels, condominiums, and 
similar uses, consistent with California Building Code.

In progress: Staff will incorporate into the next annual General 
Plan update.

Not identified in prioritization 
matrix (State requirement) / Sept. 
2022

Housing Element 4.9 Adopt a reasonable accommodation procedure that provides 
persons with disabilities exception in land use and zoning 
laws.  The process will not require a CUP or variance and will 
not be limited to accessibility improvements. The process 
and procedures will be posted on the County’s website and 
materials made available at all public counters.

In progress: The Building Division has procedures in place; staff 
needs to review procedures for the entire department and 
ensure availability and compatibility. 

Not identified in prioritization 
matrix (State requirement) / 
Spring 2022

Housing Element 1.2 Adopt at least one regulatory change that improves housing 
production potential. 

Policy Discussion to permit one tiny home/RV on certain land 
use designations in support of a business onsite and reduce 
design requirements for factory-built/manufactured homes is 
being initiated. 

High

X

Housing Element 2.5 Identify zoning requirements for which more flexible 
approaches could incentivize more on-site affordable units.

Policy Discussion to allow one tiny home on a chassis and RVs 
on additional land use designations is being intiated.

Moderate
X

Housing Element 1.3 Reduce barriers to tiny home construction and new housing 
types. Create a definition for tiny homes consistent with 
California Building Code and evaluate land use designations 
and sites appropriate for tiny home development. 
Redesignate at least one parcel to be eligible for tiny home 
development under current standards.  

Policy Discussion to permit one tiny home/RV on certain land 
use designations in support of a business onsite and reduce 
design requirements for factory-built/manufactured homes is 
being initiated. 

High

X

Housing Element 3.2 Bolster the County’s Revolving Loan Fund for the purchase 
and deed restriction of at least one unit.

Resources Needed. No contributions have been made to the 
Revolving Loan Fund since 2015. Funding has not been 
available. This program could be incorporated into the 
discussion of long-range funding expected by June 2022. 

High

Source Description Status Board Priority (2018) / TimeframePolicy Discussion Item
Housing Element 1.10 Establish and adopt minimum allowable densities or 

increased densities in appropriate community areas or 
specific plans. 

Policy Discussions: 1) The question of minimum allowable 
densities on multi-family residential land use designations was 
raised through the 2021 Grand Jury report, and the Board 
responded that an initial policy discussion would be held by the 
end of March 2022. 2) A discussion of adding housing as a 
permitted use in the Specific Plan Land Use Designation is being 
initiated. 3) Discuss allowing duplexes outright on single-family 
residential parcels.

Not identified in prioritization 
matrix / 1) March 2022, 2) TBD

X

Long Range Programs (2023 and beyond)

3



Attachment #1
Housing Policy Programs
December 7, 2021

Housing Element 1.7 Determine viability, feasibility, and value of creating a 
housing land trust in order to facilitate acquisition of housing 
and land for affordable housing developments. 

Resources Needed. A housing land trust has not been explored. 
A partner with capacity and expertise, as well as funding, is 
needed.

Moderate

Housing Element 2.4 Establish a policy on the County’s participation in the 
purchase of housing units at market rate and deed restricting 
to an affordable income level. Purchase and deed restrict 
one unit.

Resources Needed. The necessary resources continue to be 
unavailable. Funding, a real estate acquisition/management 
partner, and expertise are required.

Moderate

Housing Element 2.6 Partner with other agencies and employers to ensure that at 
least one employee housing project qualifies toward meeting 
the County’s RHNA targets (e.g. consider waiving building 
permit fees).

Resources Needed. The necessary resources continue to be 
unavailable. However, the County is on pace to meet its RHNA 
goals in every category but very low income. Partnership with 
local employers required. 

Moderate

Housing Element 3.4 Establish a program to minimize unintended consequences 
of the acquisition and resale of deed restriction units, 
including concerns regarding long-term costs of monitoring.

Resources Needed. Necessary resources have been 
unavailable. Staff and partner to manage deed restrictions 
required to establish program.

Moderate

Housing Element 2.8 Through the CPT Land Tenure Subcommittee, support land 
exchanges of existing seasonal housing units on public lands 
into private ownership so at least one unit becomes available 
for local year-round housing.

Resources Needed. The necessary resource of a land exchange 
participant is unavailable. The County is a facilitator only in this 
scenario. Partnership is required.

Not identified in prioritization 
matrix

Housing Element 3.3 Fund the rehabilitation loan program, potentially in 
collaboration with the Town of Mammoth Lakes, to 
rehabilitate at least five units during the cycle.

Resources Needed. Funding from the CDBG program carries 
requirements that appear to make the program inviable. No 
funding has been available from a more flexible source that 
could generate more demand, and therefore no action has 
been taken. 

Not identified in prioritization 
matrix

Housing Element 4.7 Provide for at least one rental-assisted facility for senior 
residents.

Resources Needed. Necessary resources remain unavailable 
(no proposed developments). 

Not identified in prioritization 
matrix (State requirement)

Source Description Status Board Priority Level Policy Discussion Item
Housing Element 1.6 Monitor the requirement for complexes with four units to be 

approved through a conditional use permit and if it is a 
constraint on development. Complexes with up to three 
units are currently a permitted use by-right in multi-family 
land use designations.

Ongoing. The County approved a Use Permit for a four-unit 
development in June Lake in 2019. A twelve-unit development, 
also in June Lake, is currently being processed under a Use 
Permit. No multi-family complexes have been denied under a 
Use Permit during this Housing Element cycle. Monitoring will 
continue. 

Not identified in prioritization 
matrix

Housing Element 1.8 Consistent with the Land Use Element, continue to require 
specific plans for large-scale development within community 
expansion areas. Specific plans allow for a variety of 
development and can streamline the development process. 
Approve at least one specific plan during the Housing Cycle.  

Resources Needed. The Tioga Inn Specific Plan Amendment for 
up to 100 housing units was not approved by the Board. An 
application to amend the Rock Creek Ranch Specific Plan in the 
Paradise area has been accepted for processing but does not 
include a housing component. No other Specific Plans have 
been proposed during this cycle. 

Not identified in prioritization 
matrix

Housing Element 1.9 Continue to allow for residential development in the 
commercial land use designation and approve at least one 
mixed-use development to utilize the county’s limited land 
base more efficiently and economically for housing.

Resources Needed. Residential development is permittable in 
the commercial land use designation and is evaluated and 
approved as development is proposed. No applications for 
mixed use developments have been submitted during this 
cycle.

Not identified in prioritization 
matrix

Continuous (Ongoing) Programs

4



Attachment #1
Housing Policy Programs
December 7, 2021

Housing Element 1.11 Approve at least five accessory dwelling units (ADUs) used 
for long-term housing in single-family residential areas 
during the cycle as provided by Chapter 16 of the Mono 
County Land Development Regulations. Update ADU 
ordinances to reflect state law within one year of adoption.  

Ongoing. Two ADUs have been approved during the cycle. 
Updates to Chapter 16 prohibit short-term rentals in ADUs and 
therefore all future ADUs approved during this cycle will meet 
this action. Approvals are dependent upon the submittal of 
development applications. In progress. The County is currently 
developing prescriptive designs for ADU's which may 
incentivize applicaitons in the future.

Not identified in prioritization 
matrix

Housing Element 1.12 Pursue at least one grant to improve infrastructure on 
identified opportunity sites. Seek to combine grant proposals 
with the Local Transportation Commission (LTC) when 
appropriate.   

Resources Needed. A potential joint grant application for 
improved infrastructure was under discussion as part of the 
Tioga Inn Specific Plan Amendment, which is an identified 
opportunity site.  A potential application is no longer on the 
table given lack of approval of the project. No other 
circumstance has provided the needed resources to pursue this 
program. 

Moderate

Housing Element 2.1 Pursue partnerships with other agencies in the County, such 
as the Town of Mammoth Lakes, federal, state, and local 
agencies to identify opportunities to increase housing stock.

See "Completed" section. In progress. The County has 
continued efforts to sell housing units in Benton for use by the 
Tribe. 

High

Housing Element 2.7 Develop partnerships to encourage the development of at 
least one housing project for very low, low, and moderate-
income households.

In progress. One development application in June Lake is 
proposing a deed-restricted unit. Resources needed. No other 
circumstances have provided the necessary resources for this 
program.

Moderate / Spring 2022

Housing Element 2.9 Award at least one density bonus for a qualifying project 
consistent with state law. 

In progress. A density bonus has been proposed for a twelve-
unit development in June Lake. 

Low / Spring 2022

Housing Element 2.10 The Board of Supervisors may reduce or waive development 
processing fees for qualifying extremely low, low- and 
moderate-income housing units in order to facilitate 
processing. Staff will work with applicable agencies to 
promote a reduction or waiving of fees for such projects.

In progress. A current project in June Lake may be eligible. Staff 
will work with the developer and bring forward to the Board if 
the project meets the policy.  

Low / Spring 2022

Housing Element 3.1 Support programs that may improve housing stock quality. 
Continue outreach through the County website and 
information counters that provide information to community 
members about weatherization and energy efficiency 
strategies and funding/waivers. Pursue at least one 
rehabilitation grant. Update housing stock survey at least 
once per housing cycle.

See "Completed" section. Ongoing: The County is not 
confident demand exists for a rehabilitation grant given the 
grant requirements. Resources Needed: Funding is needed to 
update the housing stock survey. 

High

Housing Element 4.1 Continue development credit programs in agricultural valleys 
such as Bridgeport and Hammil that promote the retention 
of large agricultural parcels for farming purposes by 
requiring clustered residential development on smaller 
parcels.

Resources Needed. The Development Credit program 
continues to be applied to development proposals in the 
Bridgeport and Hammil valleys. No development applications 
invoking the Development Credit program have been received 
during this housing cycle to date. 

Not identified in prioritization 
matrix

Source Description Status Board Priority (2018) / TimeframePolicy Discussion Item
Outside of Approved Housing Element

5



Attachment #1
Housing Policy Programs
December 7, 2021

Policy Consideration Adopt a density bonus policy that goes above and beyond 
the state’s mandated policy. 

Currently, the County relies on the State’s mandated minimum. 
The County has one current proposal that is utilizing a density 
bonus but otherwise the density bonus program has not had 
any interest. Density bonuses are often used in exchange for a 
percentage of deed restricted units. 

Board direction needed

X

Policy Consideration Allow multi-family residential projects to add more ADUs 
than currently allowed by the state. 

Potential impacts to infrastructure capacity have not been 
determined and CEQA requirements may be significant. 

Board direction needed
X

Policy Consideration Conduct a workshop on the term "rural character" to 
determine if it creates barriers or disincentives for housing 
by March 2022. 

Further discussion needed. Board direction needed
X

Policy Consideration Develop a program to incentivize long-term rentals. The subtance and nature of this program is unknown at this 
time.

Board direction needed
X

Policy Consideration Update the Housing Needs Assessment. Future state funds supporting housing (like SB2, LEAP, or REAP) 
should become available to fund an update, if this is a priority.

Board direction needed
X

6


	Meeting Agenda
	#2A - Overview of the Mono County and Town of Mammoth Lakes Liaison Committee
	#2B - ORMAT Operations Related Plowing of Roads in the Shady Rest Park Area
	#2C - County and Town Support for and Participation in Proposed Mono County Office of Emergency Services
	#2D - Update on Radio Communications System Upgrade
	#2E - Housing Programs Update



